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Endorsement and Statement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements of islandsbanki hf. for the period 1 January to 30 September 2011
comprise the Condensed Interim Financial Statements of islandsbanki hf. and its subsidiaries, together referred to as “the Bank”.

Accounting convention

The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the period 1 January to 30 September 2011 have been prepared
on a going concern basis in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union
(EU). The Financial Statements are presented in accordance with the International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial
Reporting.

The profit from the Bank's operations for the period 1 January to 30 September 2011 amounted to ISK 11,346 million, which corresponds to
a 11.9% return on equity. Bank equity, according to the Consolidated Financial Position, amounted to ISK 132,076 million at 30 September
2011. The Bank's total capital ratio, calculated according to the Act on Financial Undertakings, was 28.8% and the Tier 1 ratio was 24.6%.
Under Icelandic law the minimum capital requirement is 8.0%. However, as part of granting the Bank an operating licence as a financial
undertaking, the Icelandic Financial Supervisory Authority (FME) requires the Bank to maintain a minimum Core Tier 1 ratio of 12% of risk
weighted assets and a solvency ratio, allowing for subordinated Tier 2 debt, of 16%.The Bank’s total assets amounted to ISK 679,088
million at the end of the period.

The Board of Directors and the CEO would like to draw attention to uncertainties relating to foreign currency loans. Uncertainties in relation
to loan assets are discussed in detail under notes 2 and 36.

To the best of our knowledge, the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements provide a true and fair view of the Bank's
operating profits and its financial position as at 30 September 2011.

The Board of Directors and the CEO of Islandsbanki hf. hereby confirm the Bank's Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
for the period 1 January to 30 September 2011 by means of their signatures.

Reykjavik, 29 November 2011

Board of Directors:

Chief Executive Offlcer

é/vz 6(8/1& wcjé%/w
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three
and nine months ended 30 September 2011

Notes 2011* 2010* 2011 2010
1.7-30.9 1.7-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
INErES INCOME ...t 12,568 12,930 40,123 47,053
Interest expense (4,720) (4,622) (15,972) (21,306)
Net interest income 6 7,848 8,308 24,151 25,747
Net valuation changes on loans and receivables ............ccccccveeviiieeiiiiee e 7 (576) 2,714 (831) 2,240
Provision for latent impairment I0SSES ..........cccovvvriiiiiiiiiee e 7,22 167 137 12 (473)
Net interest income after valuation changes on loans and receivables 7,439 11,159 23,332 27,514
Fee and commisSioN iINCOME ..........coeciiiiiiiiiie e 1,786 2,937 6,188 8,084
Fee and COMMISSION EXPENSE .....c.ueiiiiiiiiiaiiiie et (433) (1,035) (1,822) (2,850)
Net fee and commission income 1,353 1,902 4,366 5,234
Net financial iNCOMEe (EXPENSES) ...cc..vveeiiiiiiieiiiie et 8-9 131 72 (337) (362)
Net foreign exchange gain (I0SS) .......cocueiiiriiieiiieee e 10 72 (2,406) 408 (2,354)
Other net operating INCOME ........ocuueiiiiiiie i 11 312 217 968 696
Operating income 9,307 10,944 28,737 30,728
AdMINISIrativVe EXPENSES ......oiiviiiiieiiie ettt 12-13 (4,630) (4,653) (14,436) (13,948)
Share of profit of aSSOCIALES ..........ceviiiiiiiiiiciie e - (50) - -
Profit before tax 4,677 6,241 14,301 16,780
Income tax .... 14 (1,030) (1,544) (3,097) (3,891)
BANK 18X ...ttt et a e e (165) - (509) -
Profit for the period from continuing operations 3,482 4,697 10,695 12,889
(Loss) profit from discontinued operations, net of income tax ............cc.c...... (198) 164 651 262
Profit for the period 3,284 4,861 11,346 13,151
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations ................... 12 4 52 (11)
Other comprehensive income for the period 12 (4) 52 (11)
Total comprehensive income for the period 3,296 4,857 11,398 13,140
Attributable to:
Equity holders of islandsbanki hf. ..............c.ccccoeoeorereeieiceees e 3,336 4,807 11,413 13,093
NON-CONEFOHING INTEIESES ....coiiiiiiieiiii et (52) 54 (67) 58
Profit for the period 3,284 4,861 11,346 13,151
Basic earnings Per SNAre ...........coouiii i 15 0.33 0.48 1.14 1.31
Diluted earnings Per SNAIE ..........cooiuiiiiiiiiie e 15 0.33 0.48 1.14 1.31

* unaudited information

The notes on pages 7 to 39 are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 30 September 2011

Notes 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank ... . 5,16 57,077 30,799
DEIIVALIVES ...t 5,17 932 70
Bonds and debt INSLIUMENTS .......cooiuiiiiiiiii e e e 5 52,429 68,024
Shares and equity instruments 5 3,284 3,022
Loans to Credit INSHIULIONS ........c.uiiiiiiii et 5,18-19 29,913 30,870
LOANS 0 CUSTOMENS .....oiiiiiiiiiiiiii it 5,20-21 495,588 515,161
INVESIMENTS IN ASSOCIALES ......uveieiiiiiie ettt e e e s bne e e snre e e e e 23 744 354
Property and @QUIPMENT .........oiiiiiiieiie s 5,608 5,419
INEANGIDIE ASSELS ....oeiiiiiiie et e st e e b e 249 187
Deferred taX @SSELS .......cviiiiiiie i s 200 283
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale ...........ccccoiiiiiieine e 26 23,042 23,489
OFNET @SSELS ...t 27 10,022 5,544
Total Assets 679,088 683,222
Liabilities
Financial AaDilItIES ..........coiiiiiii e 5 11,180 9,090
DEIIVALIVES ...ttt ettt e et e e e it e e e e eabe e e e e abbe e e e sanbeeeenbeeeeas 5,17 2,819 429
Deposits from Central BanK ............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 5,28 19 26
Deposits from credit INSHIULIONS .........c.ueiiiiiii e 5,28 70,674 96,212
DepPOSItS frOM CUSIOMENS .......eiiiiiiiiiitie ettt 5,29,30 356,827 327,158
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ... 5,31 54,110 55,425
SUDOIAINALEA I0ANS .......viiiiiiieiccee s 5 22,021 21,241
Current taX HabIlILIES ..........eei it 9,524 9,024
Deferred tax iabilities ...........cocvoiiiiiiiie e 422 18
Non-current liabilities and disposal groups held for sale ...........ccccoiiiiiiiiiieecee. 26 6,170 16,442
Other IAabIlItIES .......ocviieieiee e s 32 13,246 26,694
Total Liabilities 547,012 561,759
Equity
SNAIE CAPILAl ..eceeieieee e 33 10,000 10,000
SNAIE PrEIMIUIM L.ttt ettt b e e e ekt e e e e e aba e e e ssbe e e e anbeeeeannneeeaanes 33 55,000 55,000
OENET TESEIVES ...ttt ne 2,550 2,498
REtAINEA CAMINGS ....ueteieeiieie ettt et e e sie e e e e satb e e e aabbee e e asnneeeannreaeaas 64,587 53,174
Total equity attributable to the equity holders of Islandsbanki hf. 132,137 120,672
NON-CONIOIING INTEIESTS ...vvvieiiiieeeiiiie ettt e e e e e e e st e e s b e e e s naeeeesnneeeennes (61) 791
Total Equity 132,076 121,463
Total Liabilities and Equity 679,088 683,222

The notes on pages 7 to 39 are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the nine months ended 30 September 2011

Attributable to equity holders
of Islandsbanki hf.

Non-
controlling Total

interests equity

Share Share Other Retained

capital premium reserves earnings Total
Equity @t 1.1.2010 ...ccovoiiiieiieeeiee e 10,000 55,000 2,059 24,204 91,263 840 92,103
Translation differences for foreign operations ...................... (11) (11) (11)
Contribution to statutory reServe ...........ccceeevveenieeneeenneens 422 (422) 0 0
Net income recognised directly in equity ............cccocveeernnee. - - 411 (422) (11) - (11)
Profit for the period ... 13,093 13,093 58 13,151
Total comprehensive income for the period ............cccceeee. - - 411 12,671 13,082 58 13,140
Equity at 30.9.2010 10,000 55,000 2,470 36,875 104,346 898 105,243
Equity at 1.1.2011 10,000 55,000 2,498 53,174 120,672 791 121,463
Translation differences for foreign operations ...................... 52 52 52
Net income recognised directly in equity - - 52 - 52 - 52
Profit for the period ... 11,413 11,413 (67) 11,346
Total comprehensive income for the period ............cccceeeee. - - 52 11,413 11,465 (67) 11,398
Change in non-controlling interests .........cccocceveevieeiiieeenne - (785) (785)
Equity at 30.9.2011 10,000 55,000 2,550 64,587 132,137 (61) 132,076

The notes on pages 7 to 39 are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the nine months ended 30 September 2011

2011 2010
Notes 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 32,742 (13,983)
Net cash (used in) by investing activities (526) (293)
Net cash (used in) by financing activities (5,463) -
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equUIVaIENES ............coocieiiiiiiie i 26,753 (14,276)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ............cccccooiiiiiiinic e 13 (114)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ............cccociiiiiine 37,152 53,317
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 63,918 38,927
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:
(0= 151 ¢ o] o 1 s =10 o EO SO PSR P TP PR OTP PO 16 2,011 1,943
Cash balances with Central Bank and certificates of deposSit ...........ccocuvereiiiiiiiic i 16 49,019 18,527
BANK BCCOUNLS ...ttt ettt ettt e e tb et e e st b e e e e bbbt e e eabe e e e sanbe e e e sbe e e e anneeannbeeesnres 18 12,888 18,457
63,918 38,927

Total cash and cash equivalents

The notes on pages 7 to 39 are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
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Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Accounting policies

General information
1. The reporting entity

[slandsbanki hf. is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in Iceland. The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the
nine months ended 30 September 2011 comprise islandsbanki hf. (the parent) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as "the Bank").

The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of islandsbanki hf. on 29
November 2011.

The Bank has changed its presentation of impairment and income from revised estimated future cash flow in the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income and is now presenting individually and collectively assessed impairment and income from revised
estimated future cash flow as a net figure under the line net valuation changes. Impairment, which is incurred but not yet indentified, is shown
separately as latent impairment.

The Bank made a reclass transaction between interest income and income from revised estimated future cash flow at year end which affects the
comparable information for 30 September 2010 whereas interest has been reduced by ISK 2.8bn and revised estimated future cash flow has
been increased accordingly. This transaction had no effect on the net profit. Comparable information in notes 6 and 7 is affected by this change,
as well as comparable information in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Bank has changed its presentation of profit for discontinued operations in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and is now presenting it net of income tax. The comparable figures have been adjusted accordingly.

At 31 December 2010, bonds designated at fair value through profit and loss totalling 31,823m were categorised as being unlisted. The bonds
were in fact listed in May 2010, although no transactions occurred with these bonds until April 2011.

Comparable information under Related party disclosures in note 25 has been changed, whereas balances with an associate of ISK 351m were
wrongly presented for Members of the Board instead of for Associated companies.

Comparative information in note 34 for credit card commitments has been changed from ISK 25.4bn to ISK 17.9bn as part of the commitments
were duplicated in the Consolidated Financial Statement 2010.

2. Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the nine months ended 30 September 2011 have been prepared on a
going concern basis in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union. The Interim
Financial Statements are presented in accordance with the International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements do not include all the information required for annual financial statements and should
be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Bank and the Risk Book for the year ended 31 December 2010,
available at the Bank's website www.islandsbanki.is.

Accounting policies

The same accounting policies, presentation and methods of computation have been followed in these Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial
Statements as were applied in the preparation of the Bank's Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements are presented in Icelandic krona (ISK), which is the functional currency of the Bank,
rounded to the nearest million.

Assumptions and uncertainties in relation to the Bank's loan assets

There were uncertainties in input parameters and assumptions used in valuation of the assets acquired from Glitnir at a deep discount. The
Bank's management based their initial value estimates on expected five-year cumulative losses with conservative estimates for collateral values
and a prudent risk premium, known facts, their knowledge of the customers and the market and on official macroeconomic forecasts from the
Central Bank of Iceland, the IMF and the OECD.

islandsbanki hf. Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
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Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Cont'd

Factors that can affect the recovery value of the loan portfolio include macroeconomic parameters such as the unemployment rate, inflation and
wage growth, actions taken by the government to facilitate and ease debt service and legislation that lengthens the collection process or
increases taxation and the extent of customer participation in flexible maturity and payment equalisation programmes.

At 30 September 2011 many of the uncertainties surrounding the valuation of the financial assets acquired at a deep discount and the economic
environment were still present. The Bank's management is, however, confident that the Bank's capital base is robust enough to absorb
reasonable variances in applied assumptions.

Critical assumptions used in the initial valuation are discussed in detail in the Consolidated Financial Statements 2009. Contingencies relating to
the acquired loan assets are discussed under note 36.

Going concern

Supreme Court rulings on interest rates in the second half of 2010 and subsequent related legislative changes have reduced much of the
inherent uncertainties surrounding foreign currency-linked loan contracts. The Bank conducted a thorough assessment of all of its corporate loan
contract forms after a Supreme Court ruling on a corporate foreign exchange loan contract, to ascertain if any of them were affected by this
ruling and subsequently recognised a provision for loans deemed to be at the highest risk. The Bank ascertains that financial effects of Supreme
Court rulings and legislative changes are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Contingencies are discussed under note 36.

The Bank is subject to a currency risk due to a mismatch in contractual currencies of its assets and liabilities. This imbalance has been offset to
some extent by the Bank's treatment of loans with non-ISK contractual currency to borrowers with ISK-based income as ISK assets, whereby
the Bank impairs any increase in loan balances due to depreciation of the ISK. To address the remaining imbalance, the Bank entered into a
foreign exchange swap on 30 December 2010. Currency risk is discussed under note 46.

Most of the Bank's funding is in the form of on-demand deposits. The Bank is confident that this will change over the coming years as investors'
risk aversion reduces and they start seeking higher yielding investment opportunities. In the future, the Bank will focus on extending the
maturities of its deposit base and, at the same time, issue both unsecured and secured bonds. Access to funding in foreign currencies will be
limited in the short to medium term.

As well as working closely with customers experiencing payment difficulties, in order to ensure maximum recovery of its assets, the Bank has
strengthened its infrastructure and internal controls. The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Bank's ability to continue as a
going concern and is satisfied that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the financial
statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Changes within the Bank

3. Acquisition of subsidiary
Following financial restructuring of Icelandair Group hf., where the Bank had a leading position, Midengi ehf. acquired on 28 February
2011 71.1% shareholding in Blafugl ehf., an aviation service company and 71.1% shareholding in IG Invest ehf., an aircraft brokerage
and leasing company, through its 100% owned holding company, SPW ehf. Both entities qualify as being held for sale in accordance
with IFRS 5 and have therefore been classified as non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale.

On 4 February 2011, the Bank acquired 62.9% shareholding in Bifreidar og landbunadarvélar ehf., a car and farm vehicle dealership,
and 62.9% shareholding in Ingvar Helgason ehf., a car dealership, through its 100% owned holding company, BLIH ehf. The
acquisitions arose from foreclosures which were necessary to secure assets placed as collateral against loan assets. Both entities
qualify as being held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and have therefore been classified as non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale. BLIH ehf. was sold on 17 November 2011.

On 12 January 2011, the Bank obtained control of Jardboranir ehf., a geothermal drilling company, by exercising its option to acquire
100% of its shareholding. The option was part of restructuring of the previous owner, Atorka. The entity qualifies as being held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and has been classified as non-current asset and disposal group held for sale.

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

During the accounting period the Bank acquired an additional 45% shareholding in Kreditkort hf. The consideration was in the form of
15.71% shareholding in Borgun hf. The Bank recognised a decrease in non-controlling interest of 230m ISK.

Loss of control over subsidiary

During the accounting period the Bank disposed of 15.71% of its shareholding in Borgun hf. as consideration for 45% shareholding in
Kreditkort. As a result of this transaction the Bank lost control over Borgun as the Bank's shareholding in Borgun reduced to 39.29%
and the company has subsequently been classified as an associate of the Bank.

The Bank recognised a loss from disposal in the amount of ISK 58 million and included it in the statement of comprehensive income
in the line item “Net financial expenses”. Comparative information in the comparative statement of comprehensive income and the
comparative consolidated statement of financial position has not been restated.

The transaction did not result in any net cash inflow.

Discontinued operations

On 28 March 2011 the Bank sold its 100% shareholding in Steypustddin hf. The entity was classified as non-current asset and
disposal group held for sale. The results from the disposal are included under profit from discontinued operations, net of income tax.

On 30 June 2011 the Bank sold 90% of its shareholding in Eik Fasteignafélag ehf. This entity was classified as non-current asset and
disposal group held for sale. The results from the disposal are included under profit from discontinued operations, net of income tax.
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Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Quarterly statements

4.

5.

Operations by quarters:

Qs* Q2+ Q1 Q4* Q3+
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010
Net INtEreSt INCOME ......oiiiiiiiiiiiii e 7,848 8,242 8,061 9,128 8,308
Net valuation changes on loans and receivables (576) 409 (664) 12,267 2,714
Provision for latent impairment ... 167 16 (171) (41) 137
Net fee and cOmMmMISSION INCOME .......ccciviiiiiiiiiiieee e 1,353 1,298 1,715 2,146 1,902
Net financial iINCoOMe (EXPENSES) ....oceeiiiuiiiiiieeeeiiiiiee e e 131 (330) (138) (548) 72
Net foreign exchange gain (I0SS) .........ccoeeruiiiiiieieiiiie e 72 134 202 1,391 (2,406)
Other net operating INCOME ..........eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 312 297 359 490 217
AdMINISrative EXPENSES ......oeiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiee ettt (4,630) (4,636) (5,170) (4,525) (4,653)
Other INCOMIE ... e e e e - - - - (50)
Profit DEfOre taX ......eovviiiiiiee e 4,677 5,430 4,194 20,308 6,241
INCOME TAX .v.veveveveieeeeeeeseeeeeeeseteteeees s s eseeeteeees s eseeesseeenes s et eeeaeeess e eees (1,030) (1,202) (865) (3,323) (1,544)
Bank tax (165) (289) (55) (221) -
Profit for the period from continuing operations ............c.ccccevvvveernnee. 3,482 3,939 3,274 16,764 4,697
Profit from discontinued operation, net of income tax ............ccccceee.... (198) 537 312 (545) 164
Profit for the period 3,284 4,476 3,586 16,219 4,861
* The split between quarters is not audited.
Financial assets and liabilities
The following tables show the carrying value of financial assets and financial liabilities according to their IAS39 classification.
At 30 September 2011 Held Designated Other Total
for at fair value Loans & amortised carrying
Notes trading through P&L receivables cost amount
Cash and balances with Central Bank ..............ccccceeeeen. 16 - - 57,077 - 57,077
Loans and receivables
Loans to credit iNStItUtioNS ..........cccoveviiiiieniiccee e 18-19 - - 29,913 - 29,913
LO@ANS 1O CUSTOMEIS .....evvviriiiiiiiriiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiieeeeeees 20-21 - - 495,588 - 495,588
Loans and receivables - - 582,578 - 582,578
Bonds and debt instruments
LISEEA ..o 19,232 30,827 - - 50,059
UNESTEA .. - 2,370 - - 2,370
Bonds and debt instruments 19,232 33,197 - - 52,429
Shares and equity instruments
LISTEA .ttt 669 - - - 669
UNHISTEA ... - 2,615 - - 2,615
Shares and equity instruments 669 2,615 - - 3,284
DEIVALIVES ....cvviiiiiiiicie e 17 932 - - - 932
Total financial assets 20,833 35,812 582,578 - 639,223
Financial 1abilities ..........ccooiiiiiiiieiie e 11,180 - - - 11,180
DEIVALIVES ....cveiiiiiiiicie e 17 2,819 - - - 2,819
Deposits from Central Bank ...........ccccoviiiiiiiiiinniiiiieneen. 28 - - - 19 19
Deposits from credit iNStitUtions ...........cccccvveeeeeviciineenenn. 28 - - - 70,674 70,674
Deposits from CUSIOMErS ........ccuuviiiieeiiiiiiee e 29-30 - - - 356,827 356,827
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ............ccccocevneenne. 31 - - - 54,110 54,110
Subordinated 08NS .........coooiiiiiiieii e - - - 22,021 22,021
Total financial liabilities 13,999 - - 503,651 517,650
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Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

5.

Cont'd
At 31 December 2010 Held Designated Other Total
for at fair value Loans & amortised carrying
Notes trading through P&L receivables cost amount
Cash and balances with Central Bank .............cccccvvvvinnn. 16 - - 30,799 - 30,799
Loans and receivables
Loans to credit institutions 18-19 - - 30,870 - 30,870
LO@NS 1O CUSTOMEIS ....vvvvveriiiiiiiiiiirininininininineninenenenenenenenens 20-21 - - 515,161 - 515,161
Loans and receivables - - 576,830 - 576,830
Bonds and debt instruments
Listed ..... 36,201 30,338 - - 66,539
Unlisted - 1,485 - - 1,485
Bonds and debt instruments 36,201 31,823 - - 68,024
Shares and equity instruments
Listed oo 411 51 - - 462
Unlisted - 2,560 - - 2,560
Shares and equity instruments 411 2,611 - - 3,022
DEIMVALIVES ..vvvvieeeiciiieiee et e e e e e e e 17 70 - - - 70
Total financial assets 36,682 34,434 576,830 - 647,946
Financial 1abilities ..........coeiiiiiiieeee e 9,090 - - - 9,090
DENVALtIVES ....ccoeeiiiiieieee 17 429 - - - 429
Deposits from Central Bank ............ccccveiiiiiiiniiiiniiieens 28 - - - 26 26
Deposits from credit institutions 28 - - - 96,212 96,212
Deposits from CUSTOMENS ........cooviiiiiiiieiiiee e 29-30 - - - 327,158 327,158
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ............ccccoeeieiinnnn. 31 - - - 55,425 55,425
Subordinated 10aNns ...........oovcviiiiee i - - - 21,241 21,241
Total financial liabilities 9,519 - - 500,062 509,581
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Net interest income

7.

Net interest income is specified as follows: 2011* 2010* 2011 2010
1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Interest income:
Cash and balances with Central Bank ..............occcuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 388 297 882 1,004
Loans and reCeIVADIES ...........oiiiiiii e 11,654 12,018 37,699 43,687
Financial assets held for trading ..............eeeioiiiiiiii e 182 128 504 660
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or 10SS ..........cccccoviveiiniennns 325 480 966 1,677
OLNEE @SSELS ..eeiiieiiiitee ittt e e e ettt e e e e e et bb bt e e e e e e e aabab e e e e e e e annnbnreaaeeaanes 19 7 72 25
Total interest income 12,568 12,930 40,123 47,053
Interest expense:
Deposits from credit institutions and Central Bank .............cccooceviiiiieiniieeinieee e, (303) (819) (1,400) (3,437)
DepOoSitS frOM CUSIOMENS .....coiuiiiiiiiee ittt e e e e e eibbe e e e e e e anes (2,749) (3,223) (8,706) (13,109)
BOIMTOWINGS ...ttt ettt e e e ettt e e e e e skt te e e e e e nnbb b e e e e e e e annbneeeaeeaan (1,273) (101) (4,489) (3,264)
SUDOIAINALEA IOBNS .....eiiiiiiiiiie et e e e e s e e e e e aannes (312) (261) (895) (795)
Financial liabilities held for trading ..........ooooueiiiiiie e (110) (83) (288) (335)
Other INTErESt EXPENSE ... ..eeiiiiee ettt e et e e e e e s ibe b e e e e e e e asnbreeeas 27 (135) (194) (366)
Total interest expense (4,720) (4,622) (15,972) (21,306)
Net interest income 7,848 8,308 24,151 25,747
* unaudited information
Net valuation changes on loans and receivables
Net valuation changes on loans and receivables: 2011* 2010* 2011 2010
1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Impairment charged to the comprehensive income:
Specific impairment losses on financial aSSetS ..o (2,013) (710) (12,507) (27,474)
Reversal of impairment (impairment) of foreign exchange gain ............cccocoevevieeenne 325 4,917 (4,638) 10,410
Net specific impairment losses on financial assets (1,688) 4,207 (17,145) (17,064)
Provision for latent impairment [0SSES ........cccuviiiiiiiiniiieiiee e 167 137 12 (472)
Total impairment charged to the comprehensive income (see note 22) (1,521) 4,344 (17,133) (17,536)
Net valuation changes:
Income due to revised estimated future cash flow from loans .............ccccocciiienennne 1,437 2,976 11,676 29,715
Net specific impairment losses on financial aSSets ...........cccceeiiiieiiiieinieeiieees (1,688) 4,207 (17,145) (17,064)
Foreign exchange gain (10SS) (S€€ NOE 10) .....ceiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e e e e (325) (4,469) 4,638 (10,410)
Net valuation changes on loans and receivables (576) 2,714 (831) 2,240

* unaudited information

Reversal of impairment (impairment) of foreign exchange gain from customers with foreign exchange loans and cash flow in ISK is offset

against total foreign exchange gain (loss) as per note 10.
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Net financial income (expenses)

8. Net financial income (expenses) are specified as follows: 2011* 2010* 2011 2010
1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9

Net gain (loss) on financial instruments held for trading ...........cccccoviiiieieinnniiieee. 32 (185) (381) (21)

Net gain (loss) on financial instruments designated at fair value through P&L .......... 99 257 102 (341)

Net loss on loss of control over SUDSIAIArY .........c..eeeeiiiiiiiiiiiie e - - (58) -

Net financial income (expenses) 131 72 (337) (362)

9. Net gain (loss) on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss is specified as follows:

SIAIES ..ottt 99 257 102 (341)

Net gain (loss) on financial instruments designated at fair value through P&L 99 257 102 (341)

* unaudited information

Net foreign exchange gain (loss)

10. Net foreign exchange gain (loss) is specified as follows: 2011* 2010* 2011 2010
1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Assets:
Cash and balances with Central Bank ..............occuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e (22) (39) 12 (114)
Financial assets held for trading ...........cocvieiiiiiiiiii e (313) (1,704) (1,167) (2,588)
Loans to Credit INSHILULIONS .......oo.uieiiieeee ettt e e e s (18) (1,395) 1,531 (4,638)
LOBNS 10 CUSTOMETS ...eeiiiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt et e s e e e (1,016) (8,127) 8,526 (18,104)
OLNEE @SSELS ..eiiieiiiitet ittt e e e ettt e e e e e e e abb b e e e e e e e s e nbab e e e e e e e anbnbneeaaeeaanes 11 (60) 23 (113)
Total (1,358) (11,325) 8,925 (25,557)
Liabilities:
Deposits from credit institutions (23) 515 (159) 730
DepPOSItS frOM CUSIOMEIS ......uiiiiiiiie ittt 189 3,650 (2,883) 8,579
SUDOIAINALEA 10BN ....ooiiiiiei et 866 260 (780) 3,454
Other IADIITIES ......eiiiieii e 73 25 (57) 30
Total 1,105 4,450 (3,879) 12,793
Unadjusted net foreign exchange gain (loss) (253) (6,875) 5,046 (12,764)
Foreign exchange reversal on loans to customers with ISK cash flow 325 4,469 (4,638) 10,410
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) 72 (2,406) 408 (2,354)
* unaudited information
Other net operating income
2011* 2010* 2011 2010
11. Other net operating income is specified as follows: 1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Agency fees and service level agreement fEes .........cccooviiieiiiiiiiiiiien e 89 80 240 272
Legal COSt aNd fEES ... 20 36 65 108
RENEAI INCOME ... 97 3 232 60
Rental income on foreclosed mortgages 40 64 185 139
Other net Operating iINCOME .......uiiiiiiie e 66 34 246 117
Other net operating income 312 217 968 696

* unaudited information
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Administrative expenses

2011* 2010* 2011 2010

12. Administrative expenses are specified as follows: 1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Salaries and related EXPENSES .....ccoiiiiiiiiie ettt et e e e 2,140 2,094 7,109 6,691
Other adminiStrative EXPENSES™ ™ ........cciiiiiiiiiiie e 2,318 2,403 6,828 6,842
Depreciation and amortiSAtION ............cuueiiiieiiiiiiiiii et e e e e 172 156 499 415
Administrative expenses 4,630 4,653 14,436 13,948

* unaudited information
**|ncluded in other administrative expenses for Q3 2011 is an insurance fund premium of ISK 684m for the Depositors and Investors Guarantee
Fund (Q3 2010: ISK 876m).

Salaries and related expenses

2011* 2010* 2011 2010

13. Salaries and related expenses are specified as follows: 1.7.-30.9 1.7.-30.9 1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
SAIAMES ..ot 1,739 1,710 5,753 5,394
Pension and SIMIlar EXPENSES .......cooiiiiiiiiiie e e e e 232 228 774 720
SOCial SECUNLY CRAIGES ..ot 166 149 537 486
(01T ST PP TP PRPUPPI 3 7 45 91
Salaries and related expenses 2,140 2,094 7,109 6,691

* unaudited information

Effective income tax rate

14. The corporate income tax rate in Iceland changed from 18% in 2010 to 20% from 1 January 2011. Taxes for the nine month period to 30
September 2011 are calculated at 20%. The effective income tax rate in the Bank’s income statement is 21,7% for the nine months ended 30

September 2011. The difference is specified as follows:

2011 2010
1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Profit DEOIE taX. ... vveieiiiiie e 14,301 16,780
Income tax calculated on the profit of the period............c.ccevvviiiii e, 2,860 20.0% 3,020 18.0%
Effect of different tax rate in other COUNtrES. ...........ueiiiiiiiiiiiii e (20) (0.1%) - 0.0%
Taxable gain arising outside profit and [0SS ...........cccviiriiiiiiiiieie e - 0.0% 388 2.3%
NON-AedUCLADIE EXPENSES. ... ..uueiiieeiiiiiiit ettt e et e e e e e s s e e e e e e e snnnees 102 0.7% - 0.0%
INCOME NOL SUDJECE 10 18X ..ottt (14) (0.1%) - 0.0%
Correction in accordance with ruling on prior years' taxable income .............ccccco..... 27 0.2% 345 2.1%
Other differENCES. ........iiiii e 132 0.9% 138 0.7%
Income tax according to the statement of comprehensive income 3,097 21.7% 3,891 23.2%
Earnings per share
15. Earnings per share are specified as follows:
2011 2010
1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
11,413 13,093

Net profit of the equity holders of the parent, according to the statement of comprehensive income ....................

Average outstanding shares:

Weighted average number of outstanding shares for the period, Million ............cccoooiiiiiiiiiiic e 10,000 10,000
Average outstanding shares, million 10,000 10,000
Basic earnings per share 1.14 1.31
Diluted earnings per share 1.14 1.31
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Cash and balances with Central Bank

16. Specification of cash and balances with Central Bank:

30.9.2011 31.12.2010
(7= 1] s I o] o 1 s = o To [ TP PP POPUPPPPPN 2,011 1,833
Balances with Central Bank other than mandatory reserve deposits ...........cccoviiieiiiieeiiiie e 5,883 16,352
[OF=T 4 )i or= =T o) o (=] o 1o 1] | AT P O PP PPSPTPTPPP 43,136 6,865
Included in cash and cash equivalents 51,030 25,050
Mandatory reserve deposits With Central BAnK .............cooooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 6,047 5,749
Cash and balances with Central Bank 57,077 30,799

Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Bank's day-to-day operations.

Certificates of deposit (CDs) are short term instruments issued by the Central Bank at predetermined interest rates. CDs are issued solely to
banks and other financial institutions and are not transferable except to other comparable institutions.

Derivative financial instruments

Notional
values Notional
related to values related
Assets assets Liabilities to liabilities
17. Derivatives held for trading: 30.9.2011  30.9.2011 30.9.2011 30.9.2011
INEEIESE FATE SWAP ...eeiiiiiiiiieie ettt et e e r e e e s et e e e e e e s annnnees 71 9,850 28 4,000
CroSS CUIreNCY INtEreSt FAte SWAPS ....cceeiiiuureirieeeiaiireeeeeaaasiteereaeesaanbrreeeeeesssnreeeeas 396 11,499 2,494 50,403
EQUILY OPLIONS ettt e e e et e e e e e e et er e e e e e e - - - -
Foreign exchange fOrWAIAS ..........cooiiiiiiiiiie e 93 8,929 130 2,968
FOreign eXChanQge SWAPS .........ueiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt sieee e 313 6,760 74 2,115
BON FOTWAITS ..o 48 1,500 22 1,550
BONA OPLIONS ...ttt e e e et e e e e e e bbb e e e e e e e e e e e aaeean 11 300 71 25,300
Derivatives held for trading 932 38,838 2,819 86,336
Notional
values Notional
related to values related
Assets assets Liabilities to liabilities
Derivatives held for trading: 31.12.2010 31.12.2010 31.12.2010 31.12.2010
Interest rate swap ........ccccvveeeeeenne - - - -
Cross currency interest rate swaps - - 312 48,217
EQUILY OPLIONS ettt ettt e et e e e e et e e e e e e et r e e e e e e eas 58 500 - -
Foreign exchange fOrWAIAS ..........cooiiiiiiiiiie e 12 3,453 44 8,859
FOreign eXChanQge SWAPS .........utiiiiiiieiiiiee ittt - 231 - 1,537
Bond forwards - - - -
BONA OPLIONS ...ttt e et e e e e e e bbb e e e e e e annbreeeaaeean - - 73 25,000
Derivatives held for trading 70 4,184 429 83,613
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Loans
18. Loans to credit institutions: 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
MONEY MAFKET IOBNS ...ttt h et e e bbbt e e a et e ekt e e ea et eeab e sttt e e e nbb e e e nabneeeanbeeeannne 16,772 17,788
[T o] Q= oo 01U ] ) P PPPPPPPPPPPRE 12,888 12,102
LR LE] oJo N (o= g OO PO PSP UP PP PPPRN - 980
(011 1= (0T T L 253 -
Loans to credit institutions 29,913 30,870
19. Loans to credit institutions : 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Gross Impairment Carrying Gross Impairment Carrying
amount allowance amount amount allowance amount
LOGNS ittt 30,476 (563) 29,913 31,456 (586) 30,870
Loans to credit institutions 30,476 (563) 29,913 31,456 (586) 30,870
20. Loans to customers: 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Loans and advances to customers at amMOrtiSEA COSL .........uuuiiiiiriririiiiiiiriiererererererereaerererererererere et 495,588 515,161
Loans to customers 495,588 515,161
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21. Loans to customers at amortised cost:

22.

30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Gross Impairment Carrying Gross  Impairment Carrying
amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount

Loans to customers
INAIVIAUAIS ... 181,487 (10,696) 170,791 181,566 (8,853) 172,713
Commerce and Services 64,352 (6,753) 57,599 63,068 (11,922) 51,146
CONSEIUCLION ...t 15,954 (4,706) 11,248 21,091 (4,003) 17,088
ENEIQY ettt 3,390 (68) 3,322 2,233 (111) 2,122
Financial iNSHItUtIoNS .........cooviiiiiiiieiieee e 3,408 (35) 3,373 4,257 9) 4,248
Government secured customer l0an .........c.ccoecvvveeeeeene 45,158 - 45,158 52,182 - 52,182
INAUSENAIS ..o 33,513 (3,062) 30,451 23,670 (3,020) 20,650
Investment COMPANIES ..........eeveeriiiiiiiieee e 31,771 (12,529) 19,242 55,495 (13,507) 41,988
Public sector and non-profit organisations ....................... 10,452 (299) 10,153 11,061 (496) 10,565
REAI €SLALE .....oovveeiiieiieeiee e 98,986 (21,539) 77,447 92,456 (17,932) 74,524
69,307 (2,503) 66,804 69,797 (1,862) 67,935
Loans to customers 557,778 (62,190) 495,588 576,876 (61,715) 515,161

The internal industry classification was changed in the first half of the year making the comparison to the credit risk notes in the 2010 annual
accounts inappropriate. This change included a reclassification of some of the Bank’s customers resulting in a shift between industries, for
example a part of the exposure to Investment companies has moved to Commerce and Services and to Industrials.

Financial assets - impairments

The following table shows the movement in the provision for impairment losses for loans and receivables.

Individually Collectively 30.9.2011 31.12.2010

assessed  assessed Latent Total Total

AL L JANUATY ..o 45,704 15,606 991 62,301 72,391
Disposal of subsidiaries ..........ccceeveeriiiiiiiiee e (171) - - (171) -
Amounts Wrtten-off ...........cccovveeiiii s (8,591) (706) - (9,297) (25,840)
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off ................... 366 - - 366 402
Principal credit adjustment ...........ccccveeiiieiniieeeneee (2,456) (5,123) - (7,579) (4,667)
Charged to the comprehensive income ...........cccccoovuveeee. 15,706 1,439 (12) 17,133 20,015
At the end of the period* 50,558 11,216 979 62,753 62,301

*The provision for impairment losses at 30 September 2011 includes ISK 563 million relating to loans to credit institutions (2010: ISK 586

million).
2011 2010
1.1-30.9 1.1-30.9
Impairment losses charged to the comprehensive income:
LOGINS 1O CUSTOMIEIS ...ttt 17,155 15,919
LOANS 10 Credit INSHEULIONS .. ...eiiiiiiieiit ettt ea et s bt e e e et e sb et e e bt e e e sb e e e s bbeeeanbeeeens (22) 1,618
Impairment losses charged to the comprehensive income 17,133 17,537
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Investment in associates
30.9.2011 31.12.2010
23. Changes in investments in associates:

Investment in associates at the beginning of the PEHOd ............ooiiiiiiiiiiii e 354 827
ACQUISItION Of SNAIES IN ASSOCIALES .....eeieiiiiiiiieie ettt e ettt e e e et e e e e e s bbb e e e e e e s e s bbbeeeaeeeabbeeeeaeesaannsnneaaaaaans - 54
SalES Of SNAES IN ASSOCIALES ......vvviiiieei ittt iie e e ettt e e e e st e e e e e e et teeeeeesantaaeeeeeaasssateeaaeesaassasanaeeesanssnnneeaeenannnes - (8)
LG L0 (] £ T OO PP PPTT TP 390 -
LR A= LU 1o ] OO OO PSSP OPPPPOPPP - (519)
Investments in associates at the end of the period 744 354

Investment in subsidiaries

24. The parent’s interest in its subsidiaries is as follows:

Owner-

Location ship

Kreditkort hf. ... ... Iceland 100%
{slandssjédir hf. Iceland 100%
/1T 1= T =T o SR Iceland 100%
EIK PrOPerties ©hf. ...ttt e ettt e e e e e et e et e a2 e e e bbb et e e e e e babe e e e e e e e annbeneaeeeaaannnnes Iceland 100%
JArODOTANIT N, .ottt e e Iceland 100%
Island Fund S.A. (formerly Glitnir ASSEt MANAQEMENL) .......ceiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e et e e et e e e e e e sbab e e e e e e snnneeeas Luxembourg 100%
Glacier Geothermal and Seafo0d COMPOIALION ...........eciiuriiiiiieeiiie ettt et e e se e snee e e aabeee s USA 100%
GIACIEr SECUMLIES LLC ....eeeiiieiiiiiiiii et e ettt oottt et e e oottt et e e e 4ok bbbt e et e e oo s abe et e e e e 4 e ambbbe e e e e e eabbbeeeeaeesannbbnneaaeaeannnnnns USA 100%
F Y =gl v W (o] o= [T I o PSSP P P OUPPPRPPPPN UK 100%

19 other subsidiaries (SME) Iceland

Related party disclosures

25. Parent and ultimate controlling party
The Bank has determined that ISB Holding is the ultimate controlling party of the Bank with GLB Holding having significant influence. This is
reflected in the related party transactions.

Entities which are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the government (state-controlled entities) are not considered as
being a related party if neither entity actually influenced the other and if the state did not actually influence either entity with regards to
transactions between them. Transactions with state-controlled entities during the period were based on general business terms of the Bank.

Related party transactions

The Bank has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, the Board of Directors of the parent company, the executive vice presidents of
the Bank, close family members of individuals referred to herein and entities with significant influence as the largest shareholders of the Bank.

All loans to employees are provided on general business terms of the Bank. Included in assets are loans to key management.

Related parties have transacted with the Bank during the period as follows:
30.9.2011 31.12.2010

CEO and Managing Directors (including companies owned by them) (122) (59)
Members of the Board (including companies owned by them) .... . (115) (817)
Associated companies and other related PAIIES ...........ooiiiiiiiiiii e 10,844 21,147
Total 10,607 20,271
(1= 1= T L(T S ST T TP P TTTPTTTTOETTTOO T OS T P TSPPT PP PP PP PP PP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPRt 161 55
Loan commitments, overdraft and credit card COMMItMENTS ..........ccciiiiiiiiiiii e 810 187

Impairment allowances of ISK 4.6bn were recognised in the period against balances outstanding with associated companies.

No share option programmes were operated during the reporting period 2011.

islandsbanki hf. Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
For the nine months ended 30 September 2011 19 Amounts are in ISK million



Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

26. Specification of non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale:

30.9.2011 31.12.2010
REPOSSESSEA COIALETAL ...ttt et a et e et e s b e e e e st e et e e e nnn e e e anbeeeannns 8,093 7,435
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale 14,949 16,054
Total 23,042 23,489
Repossessed collateral:
R (o (=] a1 Ul o] (o] o 1= 1Y AN TP PPPPT PRI 4,369 4,880
VBRICIES ...ttt er et 265 253
=T (U1 o]0 T=] o | SO O TP PP PPTPPPN 82 160
Shares ......... 3,267 2,067
Other assets 110 75
Total 8,093 7,435
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale: 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
(OF T I T TP TP PRSP PP OPRPPPION 1,408 5
INVESTMENT PrOPEITIES ...ttt e e b et e skt e ekt e e ekt e e et et e e ke e e e aab e e e nbaeeeanbeeeenes 179 15,086
=T (U] o 00 T=] o | SO O PP PP TUPPPPPP 2,309 609
RECEIVADIES ...t 3,227 98
INVENTOTY <. 1,139 157
Intangible assets 1,122 -
Tax assets .......... 330 -
Other assets 5,235 99
Total 14,949 16,054
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale: 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
[ 1= Lo (=TSO PUT RO POPPPPPPTIRt 726 59
Deferred tax NADIIILIES ...........ciii e 385 -
Borrowings and other lADIIItIES .............eeiiiii ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e annnes 4,229 16,383
Other liabilities 830 -
Total 6,170 16,442
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Other assets

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Other assets are specified as follows:
RECEIVADIES ...ttt e oo oottt e e e e e e hh ettt e e e e e bbb et e e e aanbbe e e e e e e e e ssbbeeeaeeeanntnnees 120 1,532
Unsettled SECUNLIES traNSACTIONS .........ciiuiiiiiiii et sr e s e e s e e sreennee e 7,346 687
Prepaid expenses 291 303
Accruals .......ccoceeevieiinnens 413 620
Inventory (real estate) 1,518 1,889
(@] (o] o TS £ TP PP PR OPRR PR 334 513
Other assets 10,022 5,544
Inventory comprises real estate valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Deposits from Central Bank and credit institutions
30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Deposits from Central Bank and credit institutions are specified as follows:
Repurchase agreements With CeNtral BANK .............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii et 19 26
Deposits from Credit INSTEULIONS ........oiiiiiiii it e e e et e e e e e e e st et e e e e e aaanbbeeaeesaabbbbeeeaeeaannnrneeas 70,674 96,212
Deposits from Central Bank and credit institutions 70,693 96,238
Deposits from customers
30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Deposits from customers are specified by type as follows:
[D2=TaaF= 1o o lo (=T L0 1S | T OO TP PP PP OPPPPP 219,125 214,597
L[ (=T o To Y | €T OO TP PSSP P OUPPP PPN 137,702 112,561
Deposits from customers 356,827 327,158
Deposits from customers are specified by owners as follows:
30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Amount % of total Amount % of total
Central government and state-owned eNterpriSeS. .........covvriirieeeriieeeriiee e 12,944 4% 4,065 1%
MUNICIPAITIES. ...ttt e e e e e r e e e e e e e nebeeeaaeeeas 4,981 1% 4,927 2%
Other COMPANIES. ...ttt 206,369 58% 185,886 57%
INAIVIAUAS.. ...ttt e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e nnnaneeeeas 132,533 37% 132,280 40%
Deposits from customers 356,827 100% 327,158 100%
Debt issued and other borrowed funds
Specification of debt issued and other borrowed funds: 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
IS U 1T I T o =TSP UR PR PR PR 50,229 52,717
Loans from Credit INSTILULIONS .......o...eeiiiie ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e bbb et e e e e e satbe e e e e e s sabee e e e e e eannbbneeaaeaaans 1 353
OLher AEDE SECUILIES ......eeiiiiiie ettt r e e e e er e e e e s e e n e s ane e nre e e neennes 3,880 2,355
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 54,110 55,425
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Other liabilities

32. Specification of other liabilities: 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
AACCTUALS ..ttt e oottt oo oot b bttt e o4 o e s kbbb et e e e 24 oMbkttt e e e 44 4R R bbb e e £ e e 4o AR R be e e e e e e AR REe et e e e e e annnneeeaeeaannrnreen 2,093 1,951
Liabilities to retailers for credit Card PrOVISION ............eiiiiiiiiiiie ittt - 12,921
Provision for effeCcts Of COUNt FUINGS ........euiiii e e e e st e e e e e e b e e e e e e e e ennnrneeas 2,580 1,431
[CTU =T o 1= PP U PP RRTR PP 416 1,664
ChArgEable GAIN 18X ......veeeiiiiieeii ettt ettt e a bt ettt e e skt e e e e bt e ekt e e e b et e e bt e e bt e e et et e nnr e e anneeeean 571 1,357
Unsettled SECUNLIES tFANSACHIONS .........uiiiiiiie ittt e bt e et e e e s bt e bt e e e nsb e e e sbn e e e antneeens 3,995 1,386
Deferred income .... 215 345
ST Lo L = o111 SO PRRPt 3,376 5,639
Other liabilities 13,246 26,694

Equity
33. Authorised share capital of the Bank is 10,000m ordinary shares of ISK 1 each. At 30.9.2011 paid up share capital totalled ISK 65,000m which

is the total stated share capital of the Bank.

Total share capital
30.9.2011 31.12.2010

Ordinary share capital ........ 10,000 10,000
Share premium account 55,000 55,000
Total share capital 65,000 65,000

Off balance sheet items

Obligations

34. The Bank provides off balance sheet commitments. These items are specified as follows:

30.9.2011 31.12.2010

Guarantees granted t0 CUSLOMIEIS .......cciiiiiiiteieieee ettt ea e e e e e tee et e e e e e s s sabe e e e e e e e e aaeabeeaeaeeaasbbbbeeeeeeabsbneeeeeeaannnrnneeaaaas 8,122 8,404
Committed uUNArawn lINES OF CIEAIL ..........oiiiiiii e 15,432 13,453
(O] [T =To o)V =] (o] =i £ P PP PTPPPTPT R PRPPPI 16,932 17,186
Credit card commitments 19,242 17,916
The Depositors and Investors Guarantee Fund — declaration of guarantee 3,724 3,689

An amendment to the legislation for the Depositors and Investors Guarantee Fund was passed in Parliament in May 2011. According to this
amendment, the current basic fund premium is 0.3% of eligible deposits. In addition, the Bank pays a variable premium based on the total
capital ratio, the deposit ratio and a Loan Portfolio Analysis (LPA) provided by the FME.

Balance of custody assets

35. Balance of custody assets:
30.9.2011 31.12.2010

CUSTOOY @SSELS ...teteieeeiiititite e e e e ettt e e e e e ettt et e e e e e e aabe e et e e e e e s babe e et e e a4 sbe s et e e e e e o a R bee e e e e e e aansbbbeeeeannbbbbeaeaeeeannnneeeaaeaaanes 647,601 642,502
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Contingencies

36. Litigation threats

Several former customers of Glitnir private banking services have threatened litigation against the Bank in order to claim compensation for
alleged mistakes made by former employees of Glitnir. A few of those customers have already filed lawsuits against the Bank with the Reykjavik
District Court. The Bank has not accepted liability and will challenge these lawsuits on the grounds that these claims relate to events that
happened prior to the incorporation of the Bank and the assignment of related liabilities and assets and are therefore not the responsibility of the
Bank in any way. The District Court has now ruled in favour of the Bank in one of these cases stating that the Bank cannot be held responsible
for a mistake made by a former employee of Glitnir. This ruling was not appealed. The Bank estimates the total amount of compensation
liabilities currently claimed by customers of Glitnir to be ISK 5.5bn.

Netting agreement

When certain assets and obligations were transferred from Glitnir to the Bank, the FME (Financial Supervisory Authority) ruled that customers
would, upon liquidation of Glitnir, maintain their right to claim netting of assets and liabilities held by Glitnir prior to the Bank's acquisition. The
Bank made an agreement with Glitnir that the latter will compensate the Bank for any losses incurred as a result of netting of assets and
liabilities. The claims in question are priority claims on the liquidated assets of Glitnir and the netting exercise is therefore unlikely to affect either
the net asset value or the earnings of the Bank.

Allocation of liens, guarantees and comparable rights

When certain assets and obligations were transferred from Glitnir to the Bank, the FME ruled that the Bank would take over all rights used to
secure the performance of obligations of the debtors of Glitnir, including all liens, guarantees and other comparable rights connected to the
claims of the Bank.

The Bank should, however, be accountable to Glitnir for specific collateral of its customers, as applicable, due to claims and derivatives which
were not transferred to the Bank. The Bank has, in accordance with this decision, transferred to Glitnir certain collateralised obligations of
customers. One customer filed a lawsuit against the Bank with the Reykjavik District Court challenging the Bank's decision to transfer the
customer's money market deposit to Glitnir which the Bank, in good faith, identified as collateral for a foreign exchange future contract. The
claim was for approximately ISK 450 million. The District Court ruled in favour of the Bank and the case has now been appealed to the Iceland
Supreme Court. Any future allocation of collaterals will be made under an agreement with Glitnir, whereby Glitnir indemnifies the Bank against
any future claims arising from the transfer of such rights.

Indexed loans and foreign currency loans

In order to address the uncertainty surrounding which foreign currency loans should be deemed to be illegally linked to foreign currency, the
Parliament introduced in 2010 a new legislation proposing a change to the Interest Law 38/2001. The legislation was passed as Amendment to
the Interest Law 151/2010, taking effect on 28 December 2010. Based on the context of this new law, the Bank treated all foreign currency
dominated mortgages and car loans according to the method previously set forth in a September 2010 ruling of the Supreme Court concerning
car loans/leasing contracts. All customers with foreign currency mortgages were presented with an offer of having their mortgage recalculated
according to a similar formula, regardless of the validity of the contract in question. The definition of a mortgage in the new legislation refers to
tax law. The recalculation had to be offered if the debtor was eligible for a refund in part of paid interest (interest subsidy) of the loan. The Bank
decided to expand this definition to cover all residential loans to individuals, although the debtors were not obliged to accept the offer. The
interest rate on car loans going forward will, according to the law, be replaced by non-indexed CPl-rate. The same goes for mortgages for the
first five years, in addition to a choice of indexed CPI rate. At the end of the five year term, mortgages will revert back to market rates.

In April 2011, the District Court of Reykjavik ruled on a dispute regarding the nature of a financial leasing contract between the Bank and a
customer. The court ruled that although the contract had the form of a lease, it was by nature a loan contract, thereby subject to the Interest
Law 38/2001. The contract was denominated in foreign currency, and the court further ruled that the contract had an illegal foreign currency
indexation, citing the precedent set by the Supreme Court in June 2010. In October 2011, the District Court ruling was confirmed by the
Supreme Court. The ruling will affect, by precedent, approximately 4,100 similar contracts with a book value of approximately ISK 10.2bn. Each
affected contract will be recalculated as a result of the ruling.

The ruling on financial leasing contracts does not appear to set new precedent affecting other loan contracts, as the dismissal of the disputed
contract's currency indexation is based on the Supreme Court's ruling from June 2010. It should also be noted that although the currency
indexation has been deemed illegal, the customer's debt obligation in ISK at the signing of the contract is still valid. It should also be noted that
for contracts signed before 2004 — 2005, the effect of recalculation is minimal.

In 3 — 4 cases regarding disputed foreign currency denominated loan contracts, the District Courts have ruled in favour of the Bank, thereby
confirming that the disputed loans were indeed legitimate foreign currency loans. These rulings are somewhat offset by the June 2011 Supreme
Court's ruling on a case regarding a disputed loan contract between Landsbankinn and a customer (Landsbankinn vs. MétorMax). Although the
case did not involve islandsbanki, the disputed contract in the case must be regarded as typical of many foreign currency corporate loans
granted by islandsbanki. In the ruling, the Supreme Court set new precedent by deciding that the disputed contract contained an illegal foreign
currency indexation. Following the June 2011 ruling, the Bank has evaluated all corporate contract forms and assessed which forms are
affected by the ruling and which are, by the Bank's estimation, legal foreign currency loan contracts.
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36. Cont'd
On 3 November 2011, the Supreme Court ruled on an appeal of a District Court's decision to dismiss a case involving a disputed foreign
currency bond. The Supreme Court ruled that because the disputed bond was by its nature not affected by the Supreme Court's previous rulings
(including the June 2010 and 2011 rulings) the District Court should hear the case and pass a ruling of its own. The Supreme Court specifically
mentions in the ruling that the bond's principal is stated in foreign currencies, and reiterates that a correctly written foreign currency debt
agreement is not prohibited by the Interest Law 38/2001.

Based on precedents already set, and assumptions made by inferences from the Supreme Court's latest ruling, the Bank will estimate the
financial effect of remaining lawsuits. In its estimates, the Bank will take into account that customers have already been offered principal
adjustment of foreign currency debt, and that a ruling has been made by the Supreme Court on replacement interest rates. The Bank has
divided all foreign currency loans into four categories, depending on the risk of the loans being deemed illegal. The Bank holds provisions for
the expected financial effect for the highest risk category. The work on processing each category is in its initial stages. Meanwhile, customers
whose contracts are eligible for recalculation will have the option of fixed payments until the recalculations have been completed.

Final judgements for most types of islandsbanki's loan contracts are expected to emerge before the summer recess of the Supreme Court in
July 2012.

Formal investigation by the EFTA Surveillance Authority regarding alleged government aid granted by the Icelandic government to
investment funds and associated fund management companies connected to the three failed Icelandic banks Glitnir, Kaupthing and
Landsbanki

At the height of the financial crisis in Iceland, in early October 2008, investment funds suspended redemption of unit certificates in order to
protect the equality of unit certificate holders. The funds were subsequently wound-up and the unit certificate holders paid out the value of their
unit shares. This was partly achieved by the banks buying the assets (mainly domestic bonds) held by the funds and adding the proceeds from
that sale to assets already held in the form of deposits. The price paid for the assets was decided by the boards of the newly restored banks,
based on internal valuations and valuations of external consultants (audit firms).

In this case, it is alleged that management companies of the investment funds and depositories of the three major Icelandic banks received
unlawful government aid from the Icelandic authorities in October 2008. It is alleged that the government influenced the decisions of the new
banks to purchase assets from the funds (managed by their subsidiaries) on favourable terms and, thus, enabling them to wind-up the funds
and repay investors when there was no effective market for the assets.

The Icelandic government and the banks claim that the transactions were neither influenced by the government nor funded by its resources.
Even if the banks were public undertakings, the acquisition was decided on independently by each bank and based on commercial motives. The
assets acquired were valued in a professional manner, albeit in a period of uncertainty.

Formal investigation by the EFTA Surveillance Authority into government aid granted in the restoration of certain operations of Glitnir
and the establishment and capitalisation of islandsbanki

The EFTA Surveillance Authority (Authority) decided to open formal investigations into the government aid granted in October 2008 and
September 2009 to rescue domestic operations of the three main Icelandic banks: Glitnir, Kaupthing and Landsbanki, and to establish and
capitalise new successor banks, now called islandsbanki, Arion and NBI (Landsbanki) respectively.

The measures to restore certain operations of the old Icelandic banks and to establish and capitalise new banks should have been notified prior
to their implementation. The Icelandic authorities should also have submitted detailed restructuring plans outlining viable futures for the banks
without a need for a government support.

The Authority has to assess whether the government aid granted to the banks adequately addresses each bank's situation without unduly
distorting competition. In order to do so, it is imperative that detailed restructuring plans are submitted. As part of the investigation, the Authority
will assess e.g. potential aid to the new banks in the form of a special liquidity facility. Also under scrutiny is the transfer of assets and deposit
liabilities from Straumur to islandsbanki.

The Icelandic authorities and the Bank claim that the measures are compatible with the functioning of the EEA Agreement Article 61(3)(b), on
the basis that they were necessary in order to remedy a serious disturbance in the Icelandic economy. The Icelandic authorities have stressed
that the situation in Iceland in October 2008 was extreme and required immediate action in order to restore financial stability and confidence in
the Icelandic economy.

The Bank has submitted a detailed restructuring plan to the Authority outlining viable futures for the Bank without a need for a government
support.
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Events after the end of the reporting period

37. Acquisition of Byr hf.

On 13 July 2011 the Bank announced its offer to acquire all of the shares of Byr hf. (Byr). The shares will be acquired from the Byr Savings
Bank's winding-up committee and the Icelandic government. The acquisition has been approved by the Icelandic Parliament, the competition
and regulatory authorities and the EFTA Surveillance Authority (ESA).

Byr is a newly incorporated financial institution built on the foundations of a savings bank which became insolvent in April 2010. Byr focuses
mainly on retail banking. The Bank's intention is to merge Byr's operations fully with those of the parent. The Bank's CAD ratio after the merger
is expected to remain well above the minimum requirements stipulated in the Act on Financial Undertakings. The transaction will be completed
before year-end 2011.

Risk Management

The Bank is exposed to various risks through its use of financial instruments. Managing these risks is an integral part of the Bank's operations. More
information about Risk Management at islandsbanki is available in the Risk Book 2010 at www.islandsbanki.is/riskbook.

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from an obligor's potential failure to meet the terms of any contract
with the Bank or to otherwise fail to perform as agreed.

This risk comprises default risk, recovery risk, country risk, settlement risk and credit concentration risk.

Credit concentration risk is the significantly increased risk that is driven by common underlying factors, e.g. sector, economy, geographical location,
type of financial instrument or due to connections or relations among counterparties. This includes large individual exposures to parties under
common control and significant exposures to groups of counterparties whose likelihood of default is driven by common underlying factors.

Credit risk arises principally from the Bank's loans and advances to customers and other banks but also from balances with the Central Bank and off
balance sheet items such as guarantees, loan commitments and derivatives.

The loan portfolio acquired from Glitnir is the largest part of the credit exposure of the Bank. Due to the extraordinary circumstances in the Icelandic
economy and the fact that the loan portfolio was acquired at a deep discount, care must be taken when interpreting conventional measures of credit
risk.

38. Maximum credit exposure
The Bank's credit risk exposure comprises both on balance sheet and off balance sheet items. Maximum exposure to credit risk for on balance
sheet assets is the net carrying amount as reported in the statement of financial position. The maximum exposure for off-balance sheet items is
the amount that the Bank might have to pay out against financial guarantees and loan commitments, less provisions the Bank has made
because of these items.

The industry breakdown shows the Bank’s credit exposure by industry classification. The breakdown follows an internal industry classification
which is based on the Icelandic ISAT2008 that derives from the European NACE Rev. 2 classification standard.

The internal industry classification was changed in the first half of the year making the comparison to the credit risk notes in the Consolidated
Financial Statement 2010 inappropriate. This change included a reclassification of some of the Bank's customers resulting in a shift between
industries, for example a part of the exposure to Investment companies has been moved to Commerce and Services and to Industrials.

The Bank's credit exposure, before taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:
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Credit risk exposure
38. Maximum credit exposure

Maximum credit exposure 30.9.2011

Commerce Government Invest-  Public sector
Central and Financial secured ment and non-profit Real
Individuals ~ Governments Services  Construction Energy institutions customer loan Industrials companies organisations estate Seafood Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank - 57,077 - - - - - - - - - - 57,077
Loans to credit institutions - - - - - 29,913 - - - - - - 29,913
Loans to customers:
Overdrafts 8,243 - 4,608 1,906 2 953 - 2,716 454 1,554 794 1,130 22,360
Credit cards 11,910 - 691 80 1 11 6 168 25 118 30 32 13,072
Mortgages 109,777 - - - - - - - - - - - 109,777
Leases 11,248 - 8,685 2,319 16 25 - 3,811 281 709 1,998 410 29,502
Other loans 29,612 - 43,615 6,943 3,303 2,385 45,152 23,755 18,482 7,772 74,626 65,232 320,877
Bonds and debt instruments: 48,155 2,521 912 841 52,429
Derivatives 6 - 4 - - 911 - - - - - 11 932
Balance sheet total 170,796 105,232 57,603 11,248 3,322 36,719 45,158 30,450 20,154 10,153 78,289 66,815 635,939
Financial guarantees 981 - 1,377 2,084 4 951 - 1,576 16 66 751 316 8,122
Loan commitments - - 1,254 - 8,789 5,000 - - - - 389 - 15,432
Undrawn overdraft 7,249 - 3,625 756 202 1,657 - 1,787 48 738 430 440 16,932
Credit card commitments 16,988 - 1,215 205 2 26 12 271 70 334 56 63 19,242
Off balance sheet total 25,218 - 7,471 3,045 8,997 7,634 12 3,634 134 1,138 1,626 819 59,728
Total 196,014 105,232 65,074 14,293 12,319 44,353 45,170 34,084 20,288 11,291 79,915 67,634 695,667
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38. Cont'd
Maximum exposure 31.12.2010
Commerce Government Public sector
Central and Financial secured Investment and non-profit Real
Individuals  Governments Services  Construction Energy institutions customer loan Industrials companies organisations estate  Seafood Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank - 30,799 - - - - - - - - - - 30,799
Loans to credit institutions - - - - - 30,870 - - - - - - 30,870
Loans to customers:
Overdrafts 7,943 - 3,963 2,794 254 1,046 - 3,037 676 1,347 605 973 22,638
Credit cards 14,307 - 710 94 0 15 6 229 16 76 33 26 15,512
Mortgages 105,637 - - - - - - - - - - - 105,637
Leases 11,678 - 6,835 2,337 19 55 - 3,955 208 843 2,068 248 28,246
Other loans 33,148 - 39,380 11,864 1,849 3,132 52,176 13,734 41,223 8,118 71,817 66,687 343,128
Bonds and debt instruments: - 64,087 - - 324 2,129 - - 659 - 825 - 68,024
Derivatives - - - 58 - 12 - - - - - - 70
Balance sheet total 172,713 94,886 50,888 17,147 2,446 37,259 52,182 20,955 42,782 10,384 75,348 67,934 644,924
Financial guarantees 920 - 1,308 2,499 - - - 2,266 82 22 700 607 8,404
Loan commitments - - 1,072 - 5,044 5,000 - 1,827 - - 510 - 13,453
Undrawn overdraft 7,945 - 3,339 644 202 1,239 - 1,458 529 944 434 452 17,186
Credit card commitments 15,829 - 1,052 197 1 50 10 316 48 304 49 60 17,916
Off balance sheet total 24,694 - 6,771 3,340 5,247 6,289 10 5,867 659 1,270 1,693 1,119 56,959
Total 197,407 94,886 57,659 20,487 7,693 43,548 52,192 26,822 43,441 11,654 77,041 69,053 701,883
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39. Impaired loans to credit institutions and customers
Loans are classified as impaired loans if contractual cash payments are not expected to be fulfilled and if financial restructuring of the obligor is
expected to lead to a loss on that particular loan. In most cases, loss is avoided because of the difference between the claim value and the
carrying amount resulting from the deep discount of the acquired loan portfolio.

Loans are also classified as impaired if the Bank has made impairments to offset currency movements. For individuals and smaller companies
this is the main reason for loans being classified as impaired. This impairment does not signal a loss from the deep discount.

The full carrying amount of all loans which give rise to individual impairment or collective impairment is included in impaired loans, even if parts
are covered by collateral.

Loans Past due Loans Total
neither past loans  classified carrying
due nor but not as impaired  amount of
impaired impaired loans loans

At 30 September 2011
Loans to Credit INSHIULIONS .......oouiiiieie e 29,670 - 243 29,913

Loans to customers

INAIVIAUAIS ...ttt ere e 130,122 24,491 16,178 170,791
COMMEICE ANA SEIVICES .....oviiiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt 41,501 4,069 12,030 57,600
(0] 4511 {1 (o310 o PP PRP PRI 3,509 2,237 5,502 11,248
[0 T=T (o TSP P PR 2,643 1 678 3,322
FINANCIAI INSHEULIONS ...ttt e e et e e saaa e e saneas 3,328 45 - 3,373
Government secured customer loan ..... 45,158 - - 45,158
Industrial .......ccccoveeniiiiieeieee . 21,492 2,489 6,469 30,450
Investment companies ..........c.cccoveeeiieennns 6,385 713 12,144 19,242
Public sector and non-profit 0rganiSAtioNS ............ccueieiiiiiee i 6,547 181 3,424 10,152
REAIESTALE ......oiieiieee e e 27,907 2,428 47,114 77,449
SAFOOM ...ttt 60,474 1,178 5,151 66,803
Total 378,736 37,832 108,933 525,501
Loans Past due Loans Total
neither past loans  classified carrying
due nor but not as impaired  amount of
impaired impaired loans loans

At 31 December 2010
Loans to credit INSHEULIONS ........c.ooviiiiiice e 30,842 8 20 30,870

Loans to customers

INAIVIAUAIS ... 123,086 21,194 28,433 172,713
COMMEICE ANA SEIVICES .....eiiiiiiiiee ittt ettt et e e e sae e e e e sbb e e s abb e e e e abeeeesanbeaeanbeeaaas 25,075 3,442 22,369 50,886
(00T 411 U Tox 1o PSP PR PSP 8,326 2,680 6,082 17,088
Energy ......coceveenenne . 1,003 15 1,104 2,122
Financial INSHIULIONS ..........ooiiiiiie e e 4,229 8 11 4,248
Government secured CUSIOMET [OAN ........oouiiiiiiiiie ittt 52,182 - - 52,182
LT [UES1 1T | OO T PP 7,858 1,727 11,370 20,955
INVESTMENT COMPAINIES ....eeiiiiiiiee ettt ettt e ettt e e ae e e e e sabb e e e esbbe e e e sanbeeesnbeeeaannes 12,423 1,409 28,292 42,124
Public sector and non-profit OrganiSaAtioNS ............cooeiiiieiiiiiieeecee e 6,255 1,549 2,579 10,383
REAI ESTALE ...ttt 25,653 6,582 42,290 74,525
EST=To1 {6 o PP P PRSP 56,003 951 10,981 67,935
Total 352,935 39,565 153,531 546,031
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40. Past due but not impaired loans are loans where contractual interest or principal payments have passed due date without the obligor making full
payment, but where specific impairment is not appropriate. These loans are expected to be restructured without any loss to the Bank. In some
cases, loss is avoided because of the difference between the claim value and the carrying amount resulting from the deep discount of the
acquired loan portfolio. In other cases, there is sufficient collateral or the assessment is that contractual payments will be fulfilled.

Amounts reported as past due refer to the total loan exposure and not only the payment or sum of payments that are past due. Past due but not
impaired loans are as follows:

Past due Past due

Past due up 31-60 61-90 Over
At 30 September 2011 to 30 days days days 90 days Total
Loans to credit INSHIULIONS ...........oeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee e - - - - -
Loans to customers
INAIVIAUAIS ...ttt et e e e eaae e 6,037 2,259 663 15,532 24,491
COMMEICE AN SEIVICES ...vvveeiiiieeeeiieeeeieieeesteeeessaeeeesnteeessnteeeessereessneeeennes 1,086 788 169 2,026 4,069
(@20 1 ({1 ox (o] o KPR PRSPPI 158 68 56 1,955 2,237
ENIQY e - - - 1 1
Financial INSHtULIONS ........c.viiiiiiiie e e e e 19 - - 26 45
Government secured CUStOMEIOAN .........ccvveeiiiiire e - - - - -
INAUSTHAL L. e ettt e e et ee e e eare e e enreeeeas 478 511 69 1,431 2,489
INVESTMENT COMPANIES ...ttt e 34 1 8 670 713
Public sector ad non-profit 0rganiSations ..............cceeeiiieieiiieee e 70 79 2 30 181
R T L =T 7 (= USSR 435 128 7 1,858 2,428
SEAOOM ...t e e e aaes 168 215 73 722 1,178
Total 8,485 4,049 1,047 24,251 37,832
Past due Past due
Past due up 31-60 61-90 Over
At 31 December 2010 to 30 days days days 90 days Total
Loans to credit INSHIULIONS ..........eeiiiiiiiiiiiece e e 8 - - - 8
Loans to customers
INAIVIAUAIS ...ttt et e e e aae e 5,189 2,577 685 12,743 21,194
Commerce and Services . 713 243 85 2,401 3,442
(@201 ({1 Tox (o] o KPP U PRSPPI 335 94 136 2,115 2,680
ENIQY e 14 1 - - 15
Financial INSHtULIONS ........c.uiiiiiieie e e e e e eaaenees 1 - 1 6 8
Government secured CUStOMEIOAN .........ccvveeeiiiiiieiiiie e - - - - -
Industrial ................. 383 153 192 999 1,727
INVESTMENT COMPANIES ...ttt 56 553 8 792 1,409
Public sector ad non-profit 0rganiSations ............cccceeeeiieeeiiiiee e 1,355 103 72 19 1,549
R L =T - (= USSP 2,754 386 259 3,183 6,582
SEATOOM ... .t e e e eara e e aaes 44 227 20 660 951
Total 10,852 4,337 1,458 22,918 39,565
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41. Large exposure disclosure
When the Bank’s total exposure to a group of connected clients exceeds 10% of the Bank’s capital base it is considered a large exposure. The
exposure is evaluated net of credit risk mitigating effects eligible according to FME rules 216/2007.

When assessing the exposure, both on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items from all types of financial instruments are included as
defined by the FME rules. The Bank has an internal criteria that defines connections between clients. This criteria reflect the Bank’s
interpretation of Article (1)(a) in Law no. 161/2002 on Financial Undertakings, where groups of connected clients are defined.

The following table shows the Bank’s large exposures as a percentage of the Bank’s capital base, gross and net of eligible credit risk mitigating

effects.
30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Client groups Gross Net Gross Net
59% 0% 44% 0%
30% 1% 37% 1%
14% 14% 15% 15%

The Bank has one large exposure to a group of connected clients that amounts to 14% of the Bank's capital base which is below the
aggregated 400% limit set by the law. No large exposure exceeds the maximum 25% set by the law.
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Liquidity Risk

42. The Bank defines liquidity risk as the risk of not being able to fund its financial obligations or planned growth, or only being able to do so
substantially above the prevailing market cost of funds.

Liquidity risk management
The Bank's main source of funding is customer deposits. The Bank’s Treasury is responsible for the Bank’s funding and long-term liquidity
management. The Interbank desk is responsible for day-to-day liquidity management.

Risk management is responsible for measuring, monitoring and reporting on the Bank's liquidity position.

The Bank's liquidity risk policy assumes that the Bank has at all times sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities maturing over the next twelve months.

The tables below show the contractual payments of principal and interest for the Bank's financial liabilities. Thus, the total figures for each
liability class are higher than the respective balance sheet amount.

For dated financial liabilities the amounts are grouped into maturity buckets according to contractual maturities of principal and estimated
contractual payments of interest. For demand deposits or other non-dated liabilities, the figures are grouped according to the first possible
required payment date.

Maturity analysis 30 September 2011

On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No
Financial Liabilities demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Short POSItIONS ......eeiiieiiieieeee e 11,180 - - - - - 11,180
Deposits from Central Bank ............ccooceviiiiiiennnnen. 19 - - - - - 19
Deposits from credit institutions ............cccoceevveenne. 55,244 6,257 9,416 59 - - 70,976
Deposits from CUSIOMErS .......cceveeviiieeiiiieieiieeeees 247,144 55,020 22,977 19,953 6,895 - 351,989
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ..................... - 2,775 6,785 30,445 22,389 - 62,394
Subordinated [0aNS ..........ccccceeviiiiiiiiie e - 312 998 6,686 29,118 - 37,114
Other financial liabilities ..............ccccooiviiniiiiies 6,649 12,815 2,386 987 143 151 23,131
Total financial liabilities 320,236 77,179 42,562 58,130 58,545 151 556,803

Off balance sheet liabilities show the amount of contractual obligations that the Bank has taken towards customers, either by committing to lend
out money in the future or as third party guarantees. The amounts shown reflect the maximum amount, not taking into account the Bank's
ability to reduce overdraft or credit card limits before the current undrawn amount is fully utilised by the customer. These obligations all fall into
the first time bucket since contractually, on a case by case basis, the Bank could be required to fulfil these obligations instantaneously.

On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No

Off balance sheet liabilities demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Financial gurantees ..........ccccevieiiieeniienieeneeeeee 8,122 - - - - - 8,122
Undraw loan commitments ..........ccccceeeeeeveiviiieeeeeenn. 15,432 - - - - - 15,432
Undrawn overdraft ........ccccovceeeeiiieeeesiiie e 16,932 - - - - - 16,932
Credit card commitments ........cccceeeeeeviiiiiiieieee e 19,242 - - - - - 19,242
Total 59,728 - - - - - 59,728
Total non-derivative financial liabilities

and off balance sheet liabilities ...........c.ccoceeveiierennns 379,964 77,179 42,562 58,130 58,545 151 616,531

The table below shows the contractual cash flow of the Bank's derivative liabilities, i.e. derivatives that have a negative carrying amount at the
date of reporting. Derivatives with a positive carrying amount are detailed separately. For derivatives settled on a gross basis, the cash flow for
both legs of the derivative is shown, since netting cannot be applied upon settlement.
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42. Contd
On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No

Derivative financial liabilities demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Gross settled derivatives

INFIOW <. - 4,842 1,889 56,790 25,000 - 88,521
OULFIOW <. - (4,953) (2,368) (61,832) (25,069) - (94,222)
Total - (111) (479) (5,042) (69) - (5,701)
Net settled derivatives ..o - 44 34 273 - - 351
Total - (67) (445) (4,769) (69) - (5,350)

Maturity classification of assets is based on contractual maturity. For loans that were acquired at a deep discount and have not yet been
restructured, the contractual amount is scaled to reflect the carrying amount of the claim. For bonds and debt instruments in the banking book
the maturity classification is based on contractual maturity dates while for bonds and debt instruments held for trading the maturity classification
is based on the estimated liquidation time of the asset.

On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No

Financial assets demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Cash and balances with Central bank ...................... 13,942 43,135 - - - - 57,077
Bonds and debt instruments ...... 1,565 16,935 - 233 31,326 2,370 52,429
Shares and equity instruments - - - - - 3,284 3,284
Loans to credit INStitutions ..........cccceveeeeevieiiiiiieeeeen, 7,395 22,513 2 3 - - 29,913
Loans to customers .......... - 37,550 38,954 164,142 254,942 - 495,588
Other financial assets 1,427 7,653 264 136 - 355 9,835
Total financial assets 24,329 127,786 39,220 164,514 286,268 6,009 648,126
Derivative financial assets

Gross settled derivatives

INFIOW oo - 9,295 3,112 9,270 - - 21,677
Outflow ... - (8,892) (2,949) (8,943) - - (20,784)
Total - 403 163 327 - - 893
Net settled derivatives - 38 135 733 (@) - 899
Total - 441 298 1,060 (@) - 1,792

The tables below show the comparative amounts for financial assets and liabilities at year-end 2010. In the Consolidated Financial Statements
2010, the signs were reversed for the inflow and outflow of derivative financial liabilities and credit card commitments were overestimated. This
has been corrected in the tables below.

Maturity analysis 31 December 2010

On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No
Financial Liabilities demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
ShOrt POSItIONS .....eeeieiiiiie e 9,090 - - - - - 9,090
Deposits from Central Bank ..........cccccccvvveviiveeeciennnn. 26 - - - - - 26
Deposits from credit institutions ............cccccoeeeerieeen. 58,439 18,419 11,051 8,705 - - 96,614
Deposits from CUSIOMEXS ......cc.eveeviiveeviiieeesieee s 243,797 39,600 3,965 36,165 8,716 - 332,243
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ..................... 1,899 2,084 6,458 33,754 29,887 - 74,082
Subordinated [0aNS ..........cccoceeriieniiiie e - 266 822 6,019 29,671 - 36,778
Other financial liabilities ............ccccocvveeeeeiiciiiiiiee. 15,712 6,687 9,237 527 507 1,011 33,681
Total financial liabilities 328,963 67,056 31,533 85,170 68,781 1,011 582,514
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42. Cont'd
On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No
Off balance sheet liabilities demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Financial gurantees .........cccccovvveeeviveeessiieesee e 8,404 - - - - - 8,404
Undraw loan commitments ..........ccccceeeeevvciiiiieeeeeenn. 13,453 - - - - - 13,453
Undrawn overdraft ..........ccocooviveiiiiiiiiieee 17,186 - - - - - 17,186
Credit card COMMItMENtS .........cccoeveeiiiieiiiiciiicieee 17,916 - - - - - 17,916
Total 56,959 - - - - - 56,959
Total non-derivative financial liabilities
and off balance sheet liabilities ...........c.cccceeeeevneeenns 385,922 67,056 31,533 85,170 68,781 1,011 639,473
Oon Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No
Derivative financial liabilities demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Gross settled derivatives
- 10,811 1,267 57,837 25,000 - 94,915
- (10,797) (2,403) (60,757) (25,113) - (98,070)
Total - 14 (136) (2,920) (113) - (3,155)
Net settled derivatives - - - - - - -
Total - 14 (136) (2,920) (113) - (3,155)
On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No
Financial assets demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Cash and balances with Central bank ...................... 23,934 6,865 - - - - 30,799
Bonds and debt instruments ..........ccccooeeviiiieieeeeennn, 4,492 30,378 1 4 31,111 2,038 68,024
Shares and equity inStruments .........cccoccceveevveeeennnns - - - - - 3,022 3,022
Loans to credit INStitutions ..........ccceveeeeeiiiiiiiieeeee, 7,027 23,501 - - 342 - 30,870
LOANS t0 CUSIOMENS ....oeeeveieeeiiieeeeiee e e e see e 4,542 57,662 36,782 156,700 259,475 - 515,161
Other financial assets .......ccccccveeeeeieviiiiiiee e - 1,235 766 30 513 548 3,092
Total financial assets 39,995 119,641 37,549 156,734 291,441 5,608 650,968
On Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over No
Derivative financial assets demand months months years 5 years maturity Total
Gross settled derivatives
INFIOW oo - 3,685 - - - - 3,685
OULFIOW ... e - (3,672) - - - - (3,672)
Total - 13 - - - - 13
Net settled derivatives - - - - - - -
Total - 13 - - - - 13

As a part of managing liquidity risk, the Bank holds a portfolio of liquid assets to meet unexpected outflow of funds or a temporary shortage in
access to new funding. These assets are subject to strict criteria with respect to maximum liquidation time and price volatility. The table below
shows the composition and amount of the Bank's liquidity back-up at the end of 2010 and end of 30 September 2011.

Composition and amount of liquidity back-up 30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Cash and balances With Central BANK ............cccoiiiiiiiiiiceee e e 57,077 30,799
Domestic bonds eligible as collateral against borrowing at the Central Bank ... 55,611 54,881
(o] g=1To [ We o )V/=Tq 0T a 1T a1 o o] s o S SUPRRSR 16,762 30,378
Short-term placements With Credit INSHIULIONS ..........oiueiiiie e e e e s e e e e sbe e e e s snreeeaaaes 28,883 28,332
Government liquidity facility 25,000 25,000
Composition and amount of liquidity back-up 183,333 169,390
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Market risk

43. The Bank defines market risk as the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from adverse movements in the level or volatility
of prices of market instruments, such as those that arise from changes in interest rates, equity prices, commodity prices and foreign exchange
rates.

Market risk management

The Bank's market risk appetite is determined by the Board of Directors. The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) decides on limits for
portfolios and products in accordance with the market risk policy approved by the Board. Risk management is responsible for monitoring and
reporting on the Bank's overall market risk positions and compliance to limits. The objective of market risk management is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters.

The Bank separates exposures to market risk into trading book and banking book (non-trading portfolios). The Bank's primary sources of
market risk in the trading portfolio are shares, debt instruments and foreign currency positions. All financial assets and liabilities in the trading
portfolio are recognised at fair value and all resulting changes are immediately reflected in the income statement. Market risk in the banking
book is mainly due to mismatches in interest rate terms and denomination currency of assets and liabilities. These mismatches are reported to
management and are subject to regulatory and internal limits.

Interest rate risk

44. Interest rate risk in trading portfolios

The fixed income trading unit invests mainly in government bonds and bonds issued by the Housing Financing Fund (HFF), which are
guaranteed by the Icelandic government. These positions can include short positions. Government bonds are either indexed to the Icelandic
Consumer Price Index (CPI) or non-indexed, with duration up to 10 years. HFF bonds are CPI linked and have duration up to 13 years. All bond
trading positions are subject to BPV limits, both intraday and end-of-day. In addition to BPV limits short and long positions in each instrument
are subject to separate limits. Risk management monitors these limits and reports all breaches to ALCO.

Trading bonds and debt instruments, long positions 30.9.2011 31.12.2010

MV  Duration BPV MV Duration BPV
Indexed 2,075 5.63 (1.17) 2,124 9.01 (1.91)
NON-INAEXEM ...t 17,419 0.11 (0.19) 34,078 0.86 (2.92)
Total 19,494 0.70 (1.36) 36,202 1.33 (4.83)
Trading bonds and debt instruments, short positions 30.9.2011 31.12.2010

MV  Duration BPV MV Duration BPV
INAEXEM ... 185 9.07 0.17 1,129 4.74 0.54
NON-INAEXEA ...t 5,530 1.89 1.04 7,961 1.32 1.05
Total 5,715 212 1.21 9,090 1.75 1.59
Net position of trading bonds and debt instruments 13,779 0.11 (0.15) 27,112 1.20 (3.24)
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45. Interest rate risk in the non-trading portfolio

Interest rate risk in the non-trading portfolio arises from the Bank's core banking activities. The main source of this type of interest rate risk is
the risk of loss from fluctuations in future cash flows or fair value of financial instruments as interest rates change over time, reflecting the fact
that the Bank's assets and liabilities are of different maturities and are priced relative to different interest rates.

The Bank holds a government bond designated at fair value amounting to ISK 30.8 billion (2010: ISK 30.3 billion). The bond pays floating rates

and carries relatively low interest rate risk.

The Bank uses traditional measures for assessing the sensitivity of the Bank's financial assets, financial liabilities and earnings to changes in
the underlying interest rates. Standard scenarios include an adverse 100 basis point parallel shift in all yield curves.

Non-trading portfolio interest rate adjustment periods 30 September 2011

0-3 3-12 1-2 2-5 5-10 Over 10

Assets months months years years years years Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank ................. 55,066 - - - - - 55,066
Bonds and debt instruments ...........ccccoeiieeeninen. 32,643 1,307 - - - - 33,950
Loans to credit inStitutions ..........cccccoeveeeiiiiieenns 29,721 192 - - - - 29,913
Loans to CUSIOMErS .......ccoeeeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeieiviien 392,709 21,592 14,213 57,019 1,347 8,708 495,588
Other ASSEtS ...ccovueiiieiiiiee et 1,091 - - - - - 1,091
Total assets 511,230 23,091 14,213 57,019 1,347 8,708 615,608
Off balance sheet items...........cccccvevveiiiiiiecinene 59,481 13,108 - - 113 - 72,702
Liabilities

Deposits from Central Bank ............ccccccoevveniennnn. 19 - - - - - 19
Deposits from credit institutions ...........c.ccccceeeeee. 61,270 9,404 - - - - 70,674
Deposits from CUStOMErS ........ccceevvvenieeriiiieene 351,342 2,321 86 1,446 1,632 - 356,827
Short POSItIONS ......ooeeiiiieiiie e - - 554 1,143 292 - 1,989
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ................ 355 - - 2,740 50,098 917 54,110
Subordinated [0aNns ...........ccocceeriieiiienieeneeee 22,021 - - - - - 22,021
Total liabilities 435,007 11,725 640 5,329 52,022 917 505,640
Off balance sheet items ...........ccocvevveiiiiiiecinene 11,134 50,451 - 13,190 - - 74,775
Net interest gap on 30 September 2011 124,570 (25,977) 13,573 38,500 (50,562) 7,791 107,895
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45. Contd
Non-trading portfolio interest rate adjustment periods 31 December 2010

0-3 3-12 1-2 2-5 5-10 Over 10

Assets months months years years years years Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank ...................... 28,966 - - - - - 28,966
Bonds and debt instruments ...........cccceeveieveniiieenns 31,142 659 - - - 22 31,823
Loans to credit institutions ..........cccccevvvveeviieee e, 30,520 350 - - - - 30,870
LO@NS t0 CUSIOMELS ....oeeiviireeiiiieeciiee e e e e 389,089 37,855 9,481 60,557 2,572 15,607 515,161
Total assets 479,717 38,864 9,481 60,557 2,572 15,629 606,820
Off balance sheet items ...........ccccvvvvveiii i, 47,903 - - - - - 47,903
Liabilities

Deposits from Central Bank ............ccocoveviiiiiiennnnen. 26 - - - - - 26
Deposits from credit institutions .............cccccveeeenneen. 86,856 1,037 8,319 - - - 96,212
Deposits from CUSIOMErS .......cceveiiiiieeiiiiee e 322,274 2,521 - 1,420 943 - 327,158
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ..................... 432 - - 808 52,639 1,546 55,425
Subordinated 10ans ...........cccocviiiieee e 21,241 - - - - - 21,241
Total liabilities 430,829 3,558 8,319 2,228 53,582 1,546 500,062
Off balance sheet items ...........cccovvvvveeieviicciiiiee, 48,216 - - - - 120 48,336
Net interest gap on 31 December 2010 48,576 35,306 1,162 58,329 (51,010) 13,963 106,327
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Currency risk

46. Currency risk is the risk that earnings or capital may be negatively affected from the fluctuations of foreign exchange rates, due to transactions
in foreign currencies or due to mismatch in the currency composition of assets or liabilities.

The analysis of the Bank's foreign currency exposure presented below is based on the contractual currency of the underlying balance sheet
items. Additionally, there are off balance sheet items that carry currency risk and are included in the total currency imbalance. The off balance
sheet amounts below represent the notional amounts of derivatives and unsettled spot agreements. Most of the net non-adjusted currency
imbalance is due to loans with a non-ISK contractual currency to customers with ISK income. As a part of the transfer of assets from Glitnir, the
Bank determined that these loans have a recovery value that is limited in ISK terms. To reflect the ISK based recovery value of these loans the
Bank has impaired fully the foreign exchange gains on these assets since the date of transfer. Should there be an appreciation of the ISK there
will be a corresponding reversal of the impairment charge. This is in accordance with IFRS accounting standards. The Bank's regulators allow
for an adjustment of the contractual currency imbalance to reflect the recovery of foreign currency denominated loans to customers with ISK
income. The tables below summarise the Bank's exposure to currency risk at 30 September 2011 and 31 December 2010, based on
contractual currencies, off balance sheet items along with the currency adjustment.

Currency analysis 30 September 2011
Assets EUR USD GBP CHF JPY Other Total

Cash and balances with Central Bank.. 584 92 63 41 17 218 1,015
Bonds and debt instruments..........cccccoeveiiiiieieeeeeennns 13,908 354 - - - 3,213 17,475
Shares and equity instruments..........cc.occeeeeiiieeeninns - 32 - - - 5 37
Loans to credit INStitutions............cccceeeeeeeieiiiiieeeeeen. 14,650 10,100 162 811 290 1,861 27,874
Loans t0 CUSIOMEIS.......cccuvviiieeee et e e 60,578 17,021 4,941 28,754 27,290 2,720 141,304
Investments in assOCIates. .........ccveeeveviciiiiieereeeeeeeenns 20 388 - - - - 408
Total assets 89,740 27,987 5,166 29,606 27,597 8,017 188,113
Liabilities

Deposits from credit institutions .............ccocceeveenneen. 2,870 1,151 302 - - 37 4,360
Deposits from CUSIOMErS .......cceveeviiieeiiiieeeieeeees 17,657 18,084 4,762 761 617 7,164 49,045
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ..................... 51 2 - 187 217 302 759
Subordinated 10ans ...........cccccvieiiei e 22,021 - - - - - 22,021
Total liabilities 42,599 19,237 5,064 948 834 7,503 76,185
Non-adjusted foreign exchange

on balance sheet imbalance .............ccccccoeevivinenn.n. 47,141 8,750 102 28,658 26,763 514 111,928
Adjustment of currency

imbalance for FX/ISK [0ans .........cccccceeevviiiiiiieeenenn. (16,879) (3,390) (688) (17,693) (16,480) (946) (56,076)
Adjusted imbalance 30,262 5,360 (586) 10,965 10,283 (432) 55,852
Off balance sheet items

Off balance sheet assets ... 2,200 19,617 839 1,780 3,381 4,506 32,323
Off balance sheet liabilities ...........ccccceeeeviiiiiiiennnn. 25,000 24,398 92 13,580 14,392 2,068 79,530
Net off balance sheet items (22,800) (4,781) 747 (11,800) (11,011) 2,438 (47,207)
Net currency imbalance

on 30 September 2011 .......coooveeiiiiiieeeeieee e 7,462 579 161 (835) (728) 2,006 8,645
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Currency analysis 31 December 2010

Assets EUR uUsD GBP CHF JPY Other Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank ...................... 405 191 114 38 15 349 1,112
Bonds and debt instruments ..........cccceeciiiiieieeeeennn, 15,018 10,695 3,473 - - 1,953 31,139
Shares and equity inStruments .............ccceeeevieeennnns 12 51 - - - - 63
Loans to credit institutions ... 16,620 6,403 1,173 30 200 2,589 27,015
Loans t0 CUSIOMEIS ......cccuvviiiieee e et 67,094 26,092 5,333 41,579 36,613 3,501 180,212
Investments in asSOCIAtES .........ccveeeveviiiiiiieereeeeeeeiens 218 - - - - - 218
Other @SSEtS .....ccociiiiiiiiee et 195 373 42 - - 3 613
Total assets 99,562 43,805 10,135 41,647 36,828 8,395 240,371
Liabilities

Deposits from credit institutions .............ccccceeeeenneen. 7,701 6,920 5,412 - 11 590 20,634
Deposits from CUSIOMErS .......cceveeviiieeiiiieeeeeeeees 15,791 13,165 2,732 465 1,202 4,935 38,290
Debt issued and other borrowed funds ..................... 134 - - - - 32 166
Subordinated 10ans ...........cccccvieiiee e 21,241 - - - - - 21,241
Other liabilitieS ........ccceeviiiiiiiiiieee e 647 696 302 - - 45 1,690
Total liabilities 45,514 20,781 8,446 465 1,213 5,602 82,021
Non-adjusted foreign exchange

on balance sheet imbalance .............ccccccooeviviien.n. 54,048 23,024 1,689 41,182 35,615 2,793 158,350
Adjustment of currency

imbalance for FX/ISK [0ans .........ccccccceeevviiiiiieeeeenn. (37,057) (12,362) (1,551) (26,412) (24,194) (1,620) (103,196)
Adjusted imbalance 16,991 10,662 138 14,770 11,421 1,173 55,155
Off balance sheet items

Off balance sheet assets .......ccccccevevcviiiiiiiee i, 3,877 5,995 1,151 1,258 2,578 156 15,015
Off balance sheet liabilities 24,945 22,015 1,280 6,967 13,514 688 69,409
Net off balance sheet items (21,069) (16,020) (129) (5,709) (10,936) (532) (54,394)
Net currency imbalance

on 31 December 2010 ........oveveeeiiiiiiiiiiieree e (4,078) (5,358) 9 9,061 485 641 759

Inflation risk

47. The Bank is exposed to inflation risk since the value of CPI-indexed assets exceeds CPIl-indexed liabilities. The value of these assets and
liabilities changes according to changes in the CPI at any given time and all changes in the CPI index affect profit and loss. On 30 September
2011 the CPI gap amounted to ISK 16.5 billion (31 December 2010: ISK 25.1 billion). Thus, a 1% increase in the index would have a positive
impact on the profit and loss account to the amount of ISK 165 million in profit and a 1% decrease would result in a corresponding loss, other

risk factors held constant.
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Capital management

48. Icelandic capital adequacy rules are based on the EU capital requirements directives (CRD). The capital adequacy rules require an absolute
minimum capital level of 8% of risk weighted assets.

As part of the conditions for granting the Bank an operating license as a financial undertaking, the Icelandic Financial Supervisory Authority
(FME) requires the Bank to maintain a minimum Core Tier 1 ratio of 12% of risk weighted assets and a total capital ratio, allowing for
subordinated Tier 2 debt, of 16%.

The Bank's regulatory capital calculations for credit risk and market risk are based on the standardised approach and the capital calculations for
operational risk are based on the basic indicator approach. Market risk exposure for currency risk is based on the adjusted currency imbalance
described in note 46.

The table below shows the capital base, risk weighted assets and capital ratios of the Bank at 30 September 2011 and 31 December 2010.

30.9.2011 31.12.2010
Tier 1 capital

OrdiNArY SNAIE CAPILAL ... eeiieiieiie ettt ettt ettt e e skt e e e e sttt e e e ket e e e aab s e e e ebee e e e bee e e e ambeeeeanbaeaesannneeesnnneas 10,000 10,000
ST =l o1 (=] 1 4183 TP PP UUPRTRRPPPPN 55,000 55,000
ONEI FESEIVES ... ettt e bbbt e s h b e s h b e e b e e e e b e e e b e e st e e bt e s b e e s bt e e s ab e e she e e be e e sbe s e beesans 2,550 2,498
(RG] e g T=To =T T g1V [ TP PP PP OPRPTOOTIN 64,587 53,174
[\ [T B eloTali o] |ITaTo g1 (=] =5) & T T PSP U PR UPPPRRUPPIN (61) 791
Tax assets . (200) (283)
INEANGIDIE BSSELS ....eii ittt ettt ettt e oottt e ekttt e e e s b bt e e e s be e e e e abe e e e e aae s e e e aabbe e e be e e e e ahbe e e e enbbe e e e baneeeennneeeenren (249) (187)
Total Tier 1 capital 131,627 120,993
Tier 2 capital

Qualifying subordinated lIADIlItIES .............ueiiiii ettt e s e e e st e e e b e e e e e e e e s nnreee s 22,021 21,241
Total regulatory capital 153,648 142,234

Risk weighted assets
e (= (ol ol £=To 1 T T TP U TP UUPTTURPPRPTN 441,682 440,586

- due to market risk: ... . 13,272 14,766
Market riSK, trading DOOK ...........ooi ittt ettt e et bt e e ek bt e e eatb e e e easbe e e e bbe e e e annbeeeanreeeeannes 2,597 4,583
CUrrency risk FOr IigN @XCNANGE ......o.uiiiiiiiii ettt et e s et e e e e e ket e e e aabe e e e sabe e e e abb e e e e anbseeeaabbeeesannneeeen 10,675 10,183

e [T (ol o] oJ=T = 11 (o] o Fo LI 4 S S TP P TP UUPRTRRPPPTN 79,079 79,079

Total risk weighted assets 534,033 534,431
Capital ratios

LI L] 00 = 1T RO U OTTTTOU P PP T T OU PO PPUPROTRPPORIN 24.6% 22.6%
LIz U or=To 1 =L = i (o T OSSR PP PR 28.8% 26.6%

In 2010, the Bank did an assessment of its internal capital adequacy (ICAAP) and submitted to the FME. Such an assessment is an integral
part of the Bank's capital and risk management.

The FME reviewed the report as a part of the supervisory review process (SREP). The results from this review process were presented to the
Bank during the quarter and show that the current capitalisation levels are well above of both internal and regulatory requirements.
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